
 

Sustainability Task Force Members:   
Cheri Chastain Dave Donnan Ryne Johnson  William Loker 
Lucas RossMerz Mike Rubio, Vice Chair Mark Stemen, Chair  

Agenda 
Sustainability Task Force 

A Committee of the Chico City Council 
 

Meeting of Thursday, March 10, 2016 – 5:30 p.m. 
    Municipal Center - 421 Main Street, Conference Room No. 1 in the Council Chambers 

 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
     
2. APPROVE JANUARY 28, 2016 MEETING MINUTES 
 Draft 01/28/16 minutes attached. 
 
3. STATUS REGARDING THE CITY’S BICYCLE MASTER PLAN UPDATE PROCESS, AND 

DISCUSSION WITH BCAG, CHICO VELO, AND BUTTE BIKE COALITION REGARDING 
ALTERNATIVE TRANSPORTATION EFFORTS AND IMPLEMENTATION OF CAP ACTIONS – (City 
Staff, BCAG, Chico Velo, and Butte Bike Coalition) (Assistant Civil Engineer West and Principal 
Planner Vieg) – At its last meeting, the STF requested an overview and highlights regarding the City’s 
Bicycle Master Plan Update planning process. Further, BCAG, Chico Velo, and the Butte Bike Coalition 
have been invited to attend the meeting to share updates and coordinate on alternative transportation 
efforts that may further implementation of the City’s CAP.  

 
4. STATUS OF CHANGES TO THE 2016 SUSTAINABILITY BUSINESS SERIES FORMAT/SCHEDULE 

(STF Member Chastain) 
 
5. STATUS REGARDING THE STF AND CAP BEING PLACED ON CITY COUNCIL AGENDA (STF 

Chair Stemen) 
 
6. BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR -  Members of the public may address the Task Force at this time on 

any matter not already listed on the agenda, with comments being limited to three minutes.  The Task 
Force cannot take any action at this meeting on requests made under this section of the agenda. 

 
7. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS - These items are provided for the Task Force’s information. 

Although the Task Force may discuss the items, no action can be taken at the meeting. Should the 
Task Force determine that action is required, an item may be included on a subsequent agenda.  

 
8. ADJOURNMENT - Next meeting scheduled for Thursday, April 28, 2016 (consider changing meeting 

date to May 12, 2016) 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 01/28/16 STF Meeting Minutes (Draft) 
   CAP Actions Related to Transportation 
    
 
Agenda available from the City’s website at www.ci.chico.ca.us.under “Meetings/Agendas” 
 
Prepared:  03/04/16      Community Development Department  
Posted:  03/04/16      421 Main Street, 2nd Floor, Chico, CA 95928 
Prior to:   5:30 p.m.      (530) 879-6800  
 

Please contact the City Clerk at 896-7250 should you require an agenda in an alternative format or if you need to 
request a disability-related modification or accommodation in order to participate in a meeting. This request should be 
received at least three working days prior to the meeting in order to accommodate your request. 

http://www.ci.chico.ca.us/


 

 

CITY OF CHICO SUSTAINABILITY TASK FORCE 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF  

January 28, 2016 
 

Municipal Center 

421 Main Street 

Council Chambers, Conference Rm. 1 

 

 

STF Members Present:  Mark Stemen, Chair 

     Mike Rubio, Vice Chair (arrived late) 

     Cheri Chastain 

     William Loker 

     Lucas RossMerz 

          

STF Members Absent:  Dave Donnan  

     Ryne Johnson 

 

Staff Members Present:  Brendan Vieg, Principal Planner 

      

Guests Present:   Chuck Thistlethwaite, Planning Manager, Butte County 

     Scott Grist, Nikki Dow, Chuck Greenwood, CHICO 350 

  

           

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

Chair Stemen called the meeting to order at 6:35 pm.  STF members, City staff, and guest were 

present as noted.  

 

2. APPROVE JANUARY 14, 2016 MEETING MINUTES 
 

The 01/14/16 minutes were approved (3-0-1; Rubio, Donnan, Johnson absent; Chastain 

abstained). 

 

3. DEVELOP STF WORK PLAN FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2016 
 

Butte County’s Planning Manager Chuck Thistlethwaite provided an overview of Butte County’s 

efforts to develop and implement its Climate Action Plan (CAP). The presentation closely 

followed the information provided on Attachment 1 (PowerPoint Presentation) and Attachment 2 

(CAP Monitoring Report).  

 

There were a number of group discussions, including, but not limited to: 

 The difficulty in garnering support for addressing climate change as an environmental issue 

in a conservative community, and the need to highlight CAP benefits like savings of money 

and energy to businesses and residents, as well as streamlining of CEQA review 



 

 

 Amount of staff and financial resources dedicated by County to implement the CAP 

 The County’s efforts to address reducing GHG emissions in the Agriculture Sector, 

including the receipt of a $300k grant from the Strategic Growth Council to audit Ag 

emissions, identify stakeholders, develop Best Practices, and create an outreach program  

 Coordination with Butte LAFCo regarding transportation related issues 

 The continued steady growth of solar installations and discussion of a solar overlay zone 

 The potential support (or lack of) for a gas tax to implement GHG emission reduction 

efforts 

 The level of engagement with the agricultural community, and any coordination with the 

CSU, Chico University Farm 

 The need to coordinate closely regarding the next CivicSpark opportunity to ensure that 

both jurisdictions seek a member  

 Other opportunities to coordinate with the City to address climate action, including 

supporting grants efforts on E/V readiness and low income energy efficiency upgrades, 

outreach and participation in the STF’s Sustainable Business Series, and involvement in the 

under-study Community Choice Aggregation program. 

 

4. BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 

 

None. 

 

5. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS 

 

The STF discussed upcoming meeting topics and the need to coordinate agenda items with similar 

topics planned for the Sustainable Business Series.  The STF requested that at its March 10th 

meeting the following issues be agendized: 1) Transportation – with invites to BCAG, Chico Velo, 

Butte Bike Coalition, and potentially a City representative to provide an update on the City’s Bike 

Master Plan Update process; and 2) Education Opportunities – a review of community events 

calendars to identify opportunities for the STF to inform the community what they can do address 

climate change. 

 

6. ADJOURNMENT 

  

There being no further business from the STF, the meeting adjourned at 6:50pm to the meeting of 

Thursday, March 10, 2016. 

 

 

 

                                                                                                      

Date Approved   Brendan Vieg, Principal Planner 



City of Chico

Sustainability Task Force Meeting

January 28, 2016

Butte County Climate Action Plan



What is the Climate Action Plan?

• A plan to help residents and businesses save 

energy and money.

• A tool to address climate change in Butte 

County.

• A strategy to implement the General Plan and 

achieve sustainability in unincorporated 

communities.



Purpose of the Climate Action Plan

• Implementation mechanism of the County’s 

General Plan.

• Supports statewide GHG emissions reduction 

goals identified in Assembly Bill (AB) 32 and 

Senate Bill (SB) 375.

• Serves as a Qualified GHG Reduction 

Strategy under the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).



Purpose of the Climate Action Plan

• Implementation mechanism of the County’s 

General Plan.

• Supports statewide GHG emissions reduction 

goals identified in Assembly Bill (AB) 32 and 

Senate Bill (SB) 375.

• Serves as a Qualified GHG Reduction 

Strategy under the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).







 

M B A K E R I N T L . C O M  
2729 Prospect Park Drive, Suite 220, Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 

P: (916) 361-8384 F: (916) 361-1574 
 

MEMO 
To: Dan Breedon 

Butte County 

From: Jennifer Venema 

Cc: Jeff Henderson, Tammy Seale 

Date: November 13, 2015 

Re: 2015 Quarter 3 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report 

 

We are pleased to provide the 2015 Quarter 3 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report. 
This memo provides the third with implementing the Butte 
County Climate Action Plan. The memo provides an updated overview of progress, with additional 
information that builds on the first two quarterly updates to the Board of Supervisors. Following this 
report, the project team will prepare an annual report that will provide an estimate of annual 
community-wide GHG emissions through the calendar year of 2014, serving as a basis to analyze 
progress toward Climate Action Plan targets. After the delivery of the annual report, County staff will 
transition to provide mid-year reports on progress to the Board, along with annual reports on overall 

 

We look forward to your input and will revise this document following your feedback. If you have any 
questions or comments, please contact Jennifer Venema at jvenema@mbakerintl.com or (916) 517-
4407. 

  

mailto:jvenema@mbakerintl.com


Dan Breedon 
RE: 2015 Quarter 2 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report  
Page 2 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The Butte County Board of Supervisors adopted the Butte County Climate Action Plan (CAP) in 
Fe
strategy to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The CAP is an implementation tool of the County 

address climate change consistent with 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines criteria for a Qualified GHG Reduction 
Strategy. Reduction targets in the CAP call for a 15% reduction below baseline 2006 GHG emissions 
levels by 2020 consistent with state guidelines, and a 42% reduction below baseline 2006 levels by 
2030, which is the General Plan horizon year. The CAP calls for monitoring implementation efforts to 

o be consistent with 
the CEQA Guidelines. 

Butte County initiated monitoring of the CAP in March 2015. County staff and consultant Michael 
Baker International (formerly PMC) provided two quarterly reports on progress to the Board of 
Supervisors in June and August 2015. These initial efforts have allowed the project team to prepare 
the first annual report on CAP progress, planned for early 2016. This memo is the last interim, quarterly 
report prior to submission of the annual report in early 2016. This memo presents additional 
information collected since the August report, including 
updates on solar photovoltaic installations in the unincorporated county. For purposes of brevity, this 
report focuses on new information since the August report. The annual report will provide a 
comprehensive summary of progress, including information from previous quarterly reports.  

CHANGES IN ACTIVITY DATA 

The monitoring process involves collecting data from multiple agencies and organizations, including 
private utility companies such as the Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), local service providers, 
and state agencies. Service providers and agencies often require a lengthy period to process and 
release data. As a result, data on local activities that produce GHG emissions (energy use, vehicle miles 
traveled, solid waste produced, and others, collectively known as activity data) is limited at this time, 
although some information is available. For example, data from PG&E shows that residential energy 
use has declined consistently since the 2006 baseline and that this decline has continued to occur 
despite improving economic conditions and population growth. As of 2013, residential electricity use 
has declined approximately 7% from 2006 levels and residential natural gas use has dropped by 
approximately 21%.  

The County and Michael Baker are moving forward with data requests from additional agencies and 
organizations, and will analyze the information as it is made available. County and consultant staff will 
also continue to analyze PG&E data to identify additional trends and other items of relevance to CAP 
tracking. This information will be presented in the annual report to provide an estimate of updated 
GHG emissions in the unincorporated areas of Butte County and to identify progress toward achieving 
CAP goals. 

ONGOING AND COMPLETED ACTIONS 

Butte County has succeeded with the implementation of numerous CAP strategies, also referred to as 
GHG reduction measures. CAP implementation involves numerous County departments and external 
agencies and groups. Despite the variety of departments and agencies involved, these efforts 



Dan Breedon 
RE: 2015 Quarter 2 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report  
Page 3 

 

also demonstrate County leadership and the cost-saving benefits of numerous CAP measures. These 
ongoing efforts include actions which may not contribute to a directly measurable reduction in GHG 
emissions, but which support GHG reduction activities, such as educational campaigns that raise 
community awareness about energy conservation. These items include actions that the County has 
conducted internally (for example, waste reduction efforts in County buildings), actions that the 
County has implemented in the wider community (for example, new bike lanes on roads in 
unincorporated areas), and steps undertaken by community members and other organizations that 
the County is not directly carrying out (for example, residents installing solar panels on the roofs of 
their homes). Several of these actions may have been initiated prior to CAP adoption in early 2014, but 
they continue to reduce GHG emissions or support reductions and can serve as a foundation for more 
extensive future GHG reduction efforts. 

 Solar Panels: Since CAP adoption in 2014, the County has experienced continued installation of 
solar photovoltaic (PV) throughout the unincorporated area. Previous quarterly reports showed 
information on solar PV in the unincorporated county reported by PG&E. However, new data 
available thr approximately double the 
number of permitted solar PV capacity, as measured in kilowatts (kW). County records indicate 
27,753 kW of solar PV permitted since 2014 across 1,544 solar sites (though September 2015). This 
permit activity indicates early progress towards the overall targets for distributed solar PV in 
measure EN10. The County has permitted 1,485 homes for solar PV, exceeding the residential 
target of 1,400 homes by 2020 established in measure EN10. Commercial PV has achieved nearly 
2 0 goal from measure EN10. A summary of solar PV permit activity since CAP 
adoption in 2014 is shown in Table 1 below.  

Table 1: Solar PV Permit Activity by Type (01/2014  09/2015) 

Category 

2014 2015 Total, 01/2014  09/2015  

kW # 
Average 

size 
kW # 

Average 
size 

kW # 
Average 

size 

Residential 
PV 

14,094 761 19 kW 7,309 724 10 kW 21,403 1,485 14 kW 

Commercial 
PV 

2,898 41 71 kW 3,452 19 182 kW 6,350 60 106 kW 

Total  16,992 802 21 kW 10,761 743 14 kW 27,753 1,545 18 kW 

 

 Solar Overlay Zone: The County has progressed toward creating a  solar energy overlay zone, as 

including PG&E, the Farm Bureau, solar contractors, and overlay-area property owners. The overlay 
zone will encourage job creation, simplify the permitting process, protect valuable farmland and 
biological resources, and encourage an increased amount of utility-scale, Tier 4 solar energy 



Dan Breedon 
RE: 2015 Quarter 2 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report  
Page 4 

 

facilities. Butte County successfully secured a competitive grant from the Strategic Growth Council 
for this effort. In June, the County hosted two workshops to share project information and invite 
input from the public.  The Planning Commission held a workshop in July and reviewed 
information generated at the two public workshops.  In August, a workshop on the overlay zone 
was presented to the Butte County Board of Supervisors.  The Board provided direction to move 

s vision and guiding principles.  As of this update, Tasks 3 (GIS Mapping 
and Analysis) and 4 (Overlay Concepts), are under way as County staff continues to analyze 
potential sites for the overlay with the PlaceWorks consultant team. The CAP anticipates that 
development of the solar energy overlay will result in the largest single source of local GHG 
emissions reduction credits, providing nearly 60% of the local GHG reductions necessary to 
achieve the 2020 target of a 15% reduction below 2006 levels.  

 Property Assessed Clean Energy: Financing for energy efficiency, energy generation, and water 
conservation improvements is available for residential, commercial, retail, agricultural, and 
industrial property owners in Butte County through 
(PACE) program. A number of improvements may be funded through the program, including 
upgrades to HVAC, roofing, lighting, windows, plumbing, and irrigation, as well as the installation 
of solar PV. In October 2015, the Board of Supervisors approved new PACE programs for 
operations in the county to expand finance opportunities for property owners. Commercial PACE 
in the county is provided by FigTree Energy Company and Ygrene Works. Residential PACE 
providers include Open PACE, Ygrene Works, FigTree, and HERO. As of October 9, no energy 
efficiency retrofits in the county had been completed using PACE funding. County staff in the 

s to coordinate and promote these programs.  

 Community Choice Aggregation: To continue to promote energy savings and provide 
opportunities for homes and businesses to reduce energy costs, the County is evaluating options 
to create or participate in a community choice aggregation (CCA) program. A CCA program allows 
a government or group of governments (through a JPA) to procure wholesale electricity and 
provide it to residents in the governing region. This creates the potential for the CCA to provide an 
increased amount of renewable energy at competitive or lower service rates, compared to the 
existing power provider. In this scenario, PG&E would still provide transmission and distribution of 
energy, and would still be the owner of the grid infrastructure. In the Board of Supervisors meeting 
on August 25, County staff presented the idea of the CCA to gauge the interest level. The 
Board spoke favorably of the concept and requested more information. County staff will provide 
additional details on CCA to the Board in January.   

 CivicSpark: The County submitted a proposal with the City of Chico to obtain a shared 
AmeriCorps cSpark program. The task of the CivicSpark 
member would be to assist with CAP implementation. Specifically, this fellow would help develop 
a transportation demand management (TDM) program for unincorporated Butte County, as 
established by CAP measure T1.  This would involve developing a voluntary program for small and 
large businesses in the County concerning alternative transportation options, and providing 
literature and outreach to businesses. The program provides a low-cost opportunity to provide 
additional staff resources and expertise to the County.   

 Solid Waste Diversion: Following CalRecycle guidance, Butte County is currently achieving a 
waste disposal rate of 4.12 pounds per person per day, equivalent to a waste diversion rate of 58% 
for the unincorporated county. This level of attainment represents progress toward the 2020 goal 



Dan Breedon 
RE: 2015 Quarter 2 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report  
Page 5 

 

of 75% waste diversion established in CAP measure W2. Butte County is working with waste 
haulers and third-party processors to incorporate organics recycling mandated by AB 1826. The 
County is also investigating acquiring additional property to establish an aerobic composting 
operation for organic waste. 

 Government Operations Efficiency: Butte County has completed key strategic steps toward 
improving energy efficiency and reducing utility costs at government buildings. The General 
Services Department has conducted energy audits of facilities to identify inefficiencies and 
potential retrofit opportunities. The FY 2015 2016 budget includes funds to complete a number 
of projects recommended by the audits, including $275,000 for lighting and roofing upgrades. The 
County is currently waiting until mid to late November for PG&E lighting rebates to be released. 
Once specifics about the types of rebates PG&E will offer for lighting are announced, the County 
will develop a scope of work to maximize cost and energy savings. Approval of a scope of work for 
lighting upgrades is expected in December 2015 or January 2016. 

Since adoption of the CAP, the County has retrofitted 36,000 square feet of existing County 

buildings by 2020. Retrofits reduce energy use and save on utility costs, while improving 
operations and the comfort of County facilities and fulfilling maintenance needs. Retrofits since 
CAP adoption include a roofing and HVAC project, along with installation of an energy 
management system at a County facility for better climate control. The County recently issued a 
notice to proceed to replace a circa 1980 boiler at 25 Center County Drive, which is expected to be 
30% more efficient that the old version. A 2015 upgrade to a groundwater pump at the Butte 
County Fairgrounds is expected to save 2.5 million gallons of water per year. Butte County has also 
built the new Chico Public Works Yard to CALGreen Tier 1 standards, providing an above-code 
level of efficiency. The County is in the process of completing construction of the new Hall of 
Records facility, including attainment of CALGreen Tier 1 standards. The notice of completion for 
this project is expected to be issued on November 20, 2015. When complete, the County will 
achieve over 75% of its target to construct 60,000 square feet of new County facilities to CALGreen 
Tier 1 standards by 2020.  

CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS 

Since the adoption of the CAP in 2014, County staff has succeeded with the implementation of several 
CAP measures and programs that are achieving reductions in GHG emissions. The County has 
achieved notable progress with voluntary solar PV installations, implementation of energy programs, 
and cost savings with energy improvements at municipal facilities. The County has also attained two 
highly competitive grants from the Strategic Growth Council for implementation of priority CAP 
measures. The County and Michael Baker will consolidate progress updates to analyze overall progress 
toward CAP targets in the forthcoming annual report.  

Quarterly CAP progress reports provide a concise summary of ongoing efforts to reduce GHG 
emissions and support reductions. Tracking changes over time also provides flexibility to County staff, 
identifying early successes that could support or offset other measures that prove challenging to 
implement or less effective than anticipated. Quarterly reports will also demonstrate County 
leadership and continue to support cross-departmental collaboration in implementing GHG reduction 
strategies. Once each year, County and consultant staff will prepare an annual report that estimates 
the current GHG emission levels based on measure implementation and community-wide activity. 



Dan Breedon 
RE: 2015 Quarter 2 Butte County Climate Action Plan Monitoring Report  
Page 6 

 

Annual reports will provide a more comprehensive summary on progress made toward the GHG 
reduction target in the adopted CAP. Following submission of the first annual report in early 2016, the 
County will transition from interim quarterly reports to preparation of two reports each calendar year. 
Reports will include a mid-year report on CAP progress and the annual progress report.  
























	1_Agenda
	2A_STF Minutes 01-28-16 draft
	2B_STF Minutes 01-28-16 draft_attach 1
	2C_STF Minutes 01-28-16 draft_CAP Monitoring Report
	3_CAP Actions Re Transportation

